#### AN ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS OF

William Arthur Ruthruff for the degree of Honors Baccalaureate of Science in Electrical Engineering presented on June 1, 2006. Title: The Introduction of Renewable Wave Energy to the Existing Power Grid

Abstract approved:

Annette von Jouanne

Wind energy is a cornerstone to the world of renewables. It is widely used in many parts of the world as a clean and effective form of power generation. However, wind power has a number of drawbacks, which limits its use in many regions. Solar power has been used not only for small electronic devices, but as a power generating addition to some homes. The output of solar power is not as substantial as wind energy, but it is much easier to deal with, and simple to construct. Wave power has emerged with great promise in the last few years. This new power has immense room to grow, and could possibly be more stable and reliable than wind power, with potentially less environmental impact than hydroelectric power. Wave energy has the potential to generate more power for less cost than most forms of renewables. Wave energy can be a major contributor to the Oregon power grid in the near future, and with increased support for the technology growing, it may have a strong impact on the world's energy problems.

Key Words: Wave Energy, Wind Energy, Solar Power, renewables, Wave Park Corresponding email address: ruthrufw@engr.orst.edu The Introduction of Renewable Wave Energy to the Existing Power Grid

by

William Arthur Ruthruff

# A PROJECT

# submitted to

Oregon State University

University Honors College

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Honors Baccalaureate of Science in Electrical Engineering (Honors Scholar)

Presented June 1, 2006 Commencement June 2006 ©Copyright by William Arthur Ruthruff June 1<sup>st</sup>, 2006 All Rights Reserved <u>Honors Baccalaureate of Science in Electrical Engineering project of William Arthur</u> <u>Ruthruff</u> presented on <u>June 1<sup>st</sup>,2006</u>.

APPROVED:

Mentor, representing Electrical Engineering and Computer Science

Committee Member, representing Electrical Engineering and Computer Science

Committee Member, representing Electrical Engineering and Computer Science

Dean, University Honors College

I understand that my project will become part of the permanent collection of Oregon State University, University Honors College. My signature below authorizes release of my project to any reader upon request.

William Arthur Ruthruff, Author

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Dr. Alan Wallace for initially giving me the idea to complete my Honors Thesis in the field of renewable energy studies. Though my initial focus changed slightly, I appreciate his enthusiasm and support to help me begin my project. His warm and caring dedication to education and advising is truly a great virtue of his, and I wish him the best.

I would also like to thank Dr. Annette von Jouanne for her support and seemingly uncontained passion for teaching and learning. I have enjoyed every bit of instruction I have received from her over my years at Oregon State University. Her dedication to her field has served as an inspiration to me to seek higher education and pursue the field of Electrical Engineering and power systems further. She is truly an amazing instructor and I am privileged to have been able to learn all that I have from her in my time at Oregon State University.

My brother, Joseph Ruthruff has served as not only a family member, but also a mentor and advisor. Many times when I felt extremely lost I knew I could always turn to him for advice, be it in something as minor as my studies, or advice on how best to pursue my education. His extreme attention to detail and logic has given me a perspective on many situations that I would never have been able to see on my own. I thank him from the bottom of my heart for not only allowing me to turn to him for advice, but also for always being my older brother and always taking care of me.

Finally, I would like to thank my parents, Ronald and Katherine Ruthruff. My father has provided me with a great deal of reasoning and prudence that I use every day in my life when making larger decisions. He taught me that careful planning and foresight on any situation is vital and no matter what the decision, being prepared is a necessary part of that decision. My mother has always been a presence in my life and always will be. I always know she is looking out for me and has always been the wind at my back pushing me to do bigger and better things. She has always told me that I have potential to do great things, and I have never forgotten that. She reminds me every time I speak to her that no matter where I go or what I chose to do in life, I can succeed at any task if I simply put my mind to it. I love you both dearly and I thank you for your undying support of me.

William Arthur Ruthruff

# **Table of Contents**

1 – Introduction	1
2 – Wind Power	5
2.1 – Benefits of Wind Power	6
2.2 – Limitations on Wind Power	7
2.3 – Connecting Wind Power to the Grid	8
3 – Solar Power	10
3.1 – Limitations of Solar Power	10
3.2 – Connecting Solar Power to the Grid	11
4 – Wave Energy	12
4.1 – Wave, Solar, and Wind Power Differences	12
4.2 – Placement Considerations for Wave Generators	13
4.3 – Benefits to the Community	14
4.4 – Potential of Wave Energy	15
4.5 – Implementation of Ocean Power	16
4.6 – Connecting Wave Energy to the Grid	19
5 – Conclusion	21
6 – Bibliography	23

# List of Figures

Figure	e	Page
1	Wind Power Resource Estimates for Oregon	5
2	Legend for Wind Power Resource Estimates for Oregon	5
3	Available Wave Energy in Oregon by Month	15
4	Conceptual Wave Park	18

List of Tables

Table		I	Page
1	National Energy Profile		2

#### 1 – Introduction

Much of the focus in 2006 and previous years has been centered on the generation and consumption of energy. A great deal of this focus has been in regards to the latter of these two. We see in the news almost daily some advertisement attempting to sell some new energy saving device. Be it the new hybrid-electric vehicle from Toyota advertising a 60 MPG car, or a washing machine that is energy star compliant. One of the biggest indicators of our energy costs is hidden in the price of gasoline. This is one of the reasons why fuel efficient and hybrid electric vehicles have gained such praise. We see these as the answer to our problems, and that by consuming less fuel we will save money, and the earth.

The misnomer in this is that we are still consuming a non-renewable source of fuel; in this case, oil. This is oil that we primarily import from an increasingly unstable region of the world, and as this supply of oil becomes less assured as an import, we see the end result manifested as higher energy prices. In the United States, the national energy profile is predominantly non-renewable resources, such as coal, natural gas, and petroleum. Both coal and petroleum are non-renewable, and polluting. As with any resource that is finite, as supply dwindles and demand grows, prices will rise.

Energy Type	Percent of Production
Coal	23%
Natural Gas	23%
Petroleum	40%
Nuclear	8%
Renewables	6%
Biomass	46%
Hydroelectric	45%
Geothermal	6%
Wind	2%
Solar	1%
Geothermal Wind Solar	6% 2% 1%

 Table 1 – National Energy Profile [9]

All of this has given incredible focus on the idea of renewable energy as a form of production. We see renewable energy almost every day, be it in a calculator powered by a small photovoltaic cell, or even the lighting around us being comprised of electricity that was generated from a renewable source. In Oregon we are very fortunate to have a great deal of energy produced from hydroelectric power. This provides us with cheap and "renewable" energy. We are very careful to attempt to balance the energy needs of the region with the environmental effects of damming a river.

Wind power has been advancing with the aid of European countries, where energy costs are much higher than they are in the United States. The advancement in wind power in Oregon is evident in the wind farms that have been developed along the state line between Oregon and Washington, as well as smaller farms in eastern Oregon. Wind power is gaining popularity due to the research producing lower cost per watt from wind power, as well as the rising cost of conventional forms of electrical generation. It is predicted by as soon as 2020 that the cost of renewable energy will be on par with conventional electrical generation. [3] Renewable energy generation is much different than coal or oil generation. These are typically a large plant that does nothing but produce electricity from this fuel at a controllable rate. Renewable energy is different in that it typically is comprised of many different parts. Renewable energy is an all encompassing term that can refer to any form of energy that can be reused, or does not require a fuel as an input. This includes, but is not limited to, wind, hydroelectric, photovoltaic, and wave energy. In all these instances, no one form of renewable energy is going to replace a major contributor of energy such as coal, but the more efficient these all become, and the more they are funded, we will see a larger contribution to our national energy grid from these forms of generation. As research into renewable energy sources continues, we are bound to find more ways to generate energy. As we discover more ways of generating energy from renewable sources local to our regions, we will lessen our dependency on importing energy and allow for a more stable energy market.

Wave energy is emerging as a viable form of renewable energy generation based on research at Oregon State University. As with any new technology, the question arises with just how best to introduce it into the current market. In this case, we have a brand new form of energy that will need to be placed where there is no established infrastructure for transporting the generated power to the grid. In addition, the actual capacity of these generators must be integrated into the supply of power that we currently consume. Consumers pay for electricity at the conventional rate. Typically, with renewable energy being more expensive than conventional generation, consumers must elect to pay for the form of generation. Wave energy, much like wind power, must be marketed to the public so that they will want to purchase it. Wave energy's survival will depend on its ability to sell itself to consumers. If the public can be sold on wave energy, then it will continue to advance and will become one of the major players in renewable energy generation.

#### 2 - Wind Power

The Stateline wind farm, located on Vansycle Ridge on the Washington-Oregon border is a prime example of what developers would look for in locations to build a wind farm. The average speed is 16 to 18 mph, which is around the ideal speed for most wind turbines to generate maximum power. Phase I of the Klondike wind farm, located in Sherman County, Oregon, is a section of 16 wind turbines that generate 24 MW of electricity. This project was expanded into another 75 MW of electric power in 2005. [2]



Figure 1 – Wind Power Resource Estimates for Oregon [5]

	Wi	nd Power Class	sification	
Wind Power Class	Resource Potential	Wind Power Density at 50 m W/m <sup>2</sup>	Wind Speed <sup>a</sup> at 50 m m/s	Wind Speed at 50 m mph
2 3 4 5 6 7	Marginal Fair Good Excellent Outstanding Superb	200 - 300 300 - 400 400 - 500 500 - 600 600 - 800 > 800	5.6 - 6.4 6.4 - 7.0 7.0 - 7.5 7.5 - 8.0 8.0 - 8.8 > 8.8	12.5 - 14.3 14.3 - 15.7 15.7 - 16.8 16.8 - 17.9 17.9 - 19.7 > 19.7

Figure 2 – Legend for Wind Power Resource Estimates for Oregon [5]

New projects are planned to expand the wind power capacity in the Northwest. Washington State is expected to produce an additional 229 MW of available power is currently underway. [1] With new expansions planned, wind power will have a substantial growth over the next few years.

#### 2.1 – Benefits of Wind Power

The benefits to the community were great. By placing wind power, the Klondike project generated an additional \$321,205 in property tax revenue for the county. The project is expected to continue to generate an additional \$250,000 in property taxes each year for the project's 20 to 30 year lifetime. The farmers who allowed these wind turbines lost only 7 acres of land from their overall production value, but gained annual royalty payments between \$2,000 and \$4,000 for each turbine that is placed on their property. They do not have to maintain the turbines in any way, and it provides an additional form of steady income for the farmers. This is particularly important in the winter months when many farmers are unable to work their land. They are still generating an income in these winter months to help hold them over until next spring. [6]

#### 2.2 – Limitations on Wind Power

Even with all these benefits to wind power, there are limitations on its usefulness to the public. One issue, which may be considered minor by many, is the aesthetics of the surrounding area. For all its benefits, the wind turbine is not a subtle thing. The larger turbines used for projects can get upwards of 400 feet tall. Since the locations of these turbines are placed where there are high winds, typically along ridge lines and peaks, the placement of a wind turbine can be a very conspicuous addition to the landscape. Additions like wind turbines can hinder a view of a ridgeline, and lower the property value of real estate in the area. Placement of these turbines becomes fairly crucial, not just for maximum power generation, but also for the beauty of the surrounding area, something many in the public hold at a higher value than power generation.

Wind power also suffers from a capacity problem much like hydroelectric power. Hydroelectric power has been limited mostly by a lack of locations to build dams. Most of the waterways along the Columbia River in Oregon are essentially full on dam capacity. Wind power will eventually run into the same problem in Oregon, as there are a limited amount of good locations to place wind turbines that will still be effective power generators. Right now we are seeing an explosive growth in wind power projects, but the finite number of locations for these projects will limit the total number of wind power projects that can be placed in not only Oregon, but the rest of the country and the world.

# 2.3 – Connecting Wind Power to the Grid

Connecting wind energy to the grid is not as simple as plugging a cord into an outlet. A number of issues stem from attaching a new wind turbine onto the grid. Typically turbines are placed in more rural areas where the wind is better for generation. These areas also have a comparatively lower demand for power, and do not have the infrastructure to transmit a great deal of additional power. If a wind farm is going to be built, considerations as to how the power is to be transmitted to other regions. New lines may have to be placed if current methods of power transportations are not adequate to move the additional power. [4]

The output of wind turbines vary as much as the wind varies. This creates an output voltage fluctuation which is not good for the power grid. Many pieces of more sensitive electrical equipment have protection devices that trip to prevent damage, while other processes require constant voltage with very little allowed variation. Wind energy would not be good for a process such as this, or to even be introduced onto the grid, without some form of correction. The voltage fluctuation can be easily remedied by rectifying the voltage to DC, then converting it back to AC. However this introduces more cost into the system as well as the problem with harmonics. Whenever electricity is converted to AC through power electronics, the issues of introducing harmonics arises. These harmonics are potentially damaging, causing overheating or malfunctioning of equipment. The harmonics can be filtered out, although for an added cost to the system.

Typically a wind turbine is attached to the grid through an AC induction generator. The induction generator provides a number of advantages over other forms of generators. They are fairly cheap, they cannot be overloaded, and have less mechanical parts to wear out. The only drawbacks to the generator type is there is no on board active voltage regulation, but this can be easily remedied at a later substation. The substation will provide the majority of the services needed to clean up the wind power so it is ready to be placed onto the grid. It is a simpler and more cost effective solution to have all the conversion done in a central location rather than on each individual device.

#### 3 – Solar Power

Solar power in Oregon is not as prolific as it is in other states such as California. Oregon is not a state known for its sunshine, however, solar does play a part in the overall energy configuration. The term solar power is generally used to describe photovoltaic, or PV, solar energy. This form of solar power takes sunlight onto PV cells and converts it into electrical energy. Solar panels in the home are usually placed on the roof, which allow for the most sunlight to be collected without obstructions. Solar cells convert photons to electrons and output a DC current, however it is typically on a much smaller order than that of a solar turbine. While the process is simpler in terms of conversion than wind power due to the fact that a DC current is being generated, it requires many more solar panels to produce greater amounts of energy.

#### **3.1 – Limitations of Solar Power**

The solar panels have issues with the semiconductors becoming damaged. There are no mechanical moving parts to the solar panels, which provide a certain amount of resilience to them. However, the semiconductors used to produce the electrical current do have the possibility of being damaged from excess heat. This thermal damage can affect the ability of the panels to produce electrical current. Photovoltaic solar panels are a passive form of generating power that requires no mechanical moving parts. While simpler to connect and set up, they do not produce as great of an output as a wind turbine would.

# 3.2 – Connecting Solar Power to the Grid

Connecting these solar arrays to the grid requires them to be linked up and converted into AC. This requires no generator, but has the same considerations regarding harmonics introduced onto the system from the AC conversion process. Like wind power, the solar power will be redirected to a substation where the majority of the power conversion will be done. This provides a centralized location where all the power can be prepared for the grid. It is a great deal simpler than connecting wind turbines to the power grind due to the lack of an AC to DC conversion process. Solar panels output a DC voltage, which needs to be inverted to AC and interfaced to the grid using a power electronic inverter and filtering

#### 4 – Wave Energy

The idea of using ocean waves to generate power is not exclusive to Oregon. Researchers in Great Britain are several years ahead of the United States, with test facilities set up off the coast of Scotland. The Swedish and the Japanese have similar devices they are testing as well. But how to implement this idea on the Oregon coast is something that has been talked about, and ideas are underway. Implementing a new form of energy generation west of the Cascade mountain range is important for Oregon's energy map. With many of the wind turbines being placed in eastern Oregon, as well as the population of Oregon being concentrated in western Oregon. Major transmission lines are both costly, and introduce more losses into the system, driving up the cost of power. Ideally, the power should be generated locally to both cut down on the dependency on external sources of power, as well as driving down the costs of the power itself.

#### 4.1 – Wave, Solar and Wind Power Differences

Renewable energy is much different from conventional sources of power in terms of the power that is actually generated. When a wind turbine is placed, there is little control over the actual output of that turbine. The wind dictates exactly how much power is outputted from the turbine. The same is true for wave energy. The ocean waves will dictate how much power is outputted by these generators. However, there are some important differences between ocean energy and wind energy. Ocean energy is much more predictable and steady, as opposed to wind energy which tends to be more sporadic and impromptu. Ocean waves do not dissipate as fast as wind, which greatly increases their predictability. To determine the power generation 12 hours in the future, one only needs to look at the profile of the ocean wave an appropriate distance away from the generation point. This will give an excellent idea as to how much power will be generated in the future, and additional generation can be added or subtracted as needed. This gives ocean power a decisive advantage over wind power with regards to predictability of output power, something that is very controllable with a traditional coal or oil fired generation site.

#### **4.2 – Placement Considerations for Wave Generators**

The density of water is 1,000 times that of air. This means that a smaller area can generate more energy. This is important west of the Cascades, as both space and aesthetics are at a premium. One of the major drawbacks of wind power is the presence of a large wind turbine that is extremely visible and can disrupt the natural landscape of an area. While this may not seem like a major concern, for many the prospect of renewable power is not enough to make them agree to the placement of a large wind turbine in their back yard. The advantage ocean power has is that the buoys will be placed offshore, and have very little impact on the ocean landscape. At this time, the ideal distance appears to be about 2 miles offshore. Such a small device or even a number of these small devices placed so far offshore will do little to disrupt the beauty of the landscape. This also has implications for fishermen that would be sharing the water with these wave energy devices. The introduction of wave generators in the ocean could disrupt the routes of fishermen that would want to use the same area. By minimizing the

space these devices require, the impact they have on existing life in the ocean is also minimal, and is a great benefit is obtained at little cost. With a project such as this, it is important to realize that the end result of power generation is just as important as sharing the area with others who desire to use the same area.

#### 4.3 – Benefits to the Community

Projects such as this are a great benefit to the community for the same reasons as wind power. The communities and people who allow forms of generation to be built in their area typically get increased revenues to the community. One major issue that has been affecting all communities not only in Oregon, but around the country, is decreased funding for public services. This has an impact on all aspects of the community, and most of them negative. By allowing forms of power generation to exist in the community, additional funding is always welcome, but the reservations usually come from the overall impact it has on the community itself. In the case of renewable energy sources, the impact is usually a minimum. With ocean energy, the impact is less than that of wind power, due to the lower profile of the generators compared to wind turbines or solar arrays. The only noticeable impact to the land-based community would be the on shore substation, something that would be built with any form of power generation. However, the impact on the fishing and crabbing industry is still under investigation, with goals to determine the lowest impact wave park sites.

#### 4.4 – Potential of Wave Energy

"One buoy is expected to generate 100 kilowatts of power, on average. A network of 500 such buoys could power downtown Portland." [8] Facts such as this show the impact that wave power will have on the power grid. To make a claim that a new form of renewable energy easily has the potential to power the downtown business district of a major city such as Portland is a bold statement indeed. Ocean power is only limited by the number of buoys that can be placed. Unlike wind or solar power, wave power is a much more powerful and much more reliable form of power input. Solar power is limited by the amount of light that can reach a solar array; wind power is limited by the duration and speed of the input wind. Wave energy is steady, and runs at all hours of the day, year round. It is an extremely powerful resource that has yet to be tapped, and under the proper conditions could easily provide a great deal of energy that clean and reusable, just like solar and wind power, but on a much larger scale and a much more reliable set of circumstances.

#### 4.5 – Implementation of Ocean Power

Implementing ocean power on the Oregon coast is a complex task. Currently there are plans to implement the first commercial wave park off the coast of Reedsport, Oregon. Reedsport offers a unique opportunity that utilizes all the aspects that ocean power has to offer. The placement of an abandoned lumber mill next to the ocean gives researchers an existing substation that can be dedicated to the newly generated power. With some assistance from the local utility and the community, Reedsport seems like the perfect place to start testing ocean power's capabilities. The easement for the outflow pipe and the abandoned substation so close to the water is perhaps one of the most important features that the implementation of ocean power requires. The power that will be generated off the coast will have to be converted into useful power, and then tied into the grid. What this substation offers is a convenient means of doing that. When looking for new and suitable locations to set up a new array of ocean power generators, the location on land may be just as important as the off shore wave profile. Any future expansions of this project must take into consideration the conversion of the power into the grid. The most effective means of converting the power will be on land in bulk. This will allow the use of larger and more robust equipment and centralize the conversion process. In the end, a large substation on shore will most likely be required for all of these wave farms.

The profile of wave activity in Oregon closely mirrors that of power demands throughout the year. Wave activity is generally higher in the winter months where heaters are more active and lower in the summer months. The wave profile of future sites will need to match the power demands it will serve. The wave activity in the area that



Figure 3 – Available Wave Energy in Oregon by Month [8]

will be used as a site for ocean power generators will have to be active enough to make it worthwhile to place generators. When implementing a wind farm, studies are done to determine the wind activity in the area to determine whether or not it would be effective to place a turbine. Similarly, the profile of ocean waves will need to be studied not just to determine if the wave activity is high enough, but also if there are any dangers such as tsunamis, hurricanes, or other offshore disturbances that could damage the equipment. Other offshore activities must be considered as well. Placing a grid of 500 generators in an area is going to change how that water is used by others, and may disrupt other commercial and recreational activities in the area. These generators may negatively impact the fishing routes of commercial fishermen, who have been hit hard in recent years due to dwindling fish populations. If the introduction of generators would hurt that already damaged segment of the economy, it may not be worth it to place generators in that area.

The commercial sector of the community is not the only group of people that must be appeased. Placing any form of power generation in an area is as much political as it is scientific. While it is possible to find the perfect location for a wave farm, the internal politics of the community may prevent such a farm from being built. While the placement of power generation could provide a monetary compensation for the land used, this may not be enough for a community to fully support the addition of a substation, transmission lines, and off shore buoys. Looking for a community with the foresight and willingness to cooperate is a major component to a successful project. Fortunately, the community of Reedsport is willing to assist in this pilot, and the outcome may be enough to sway other communities to either allow or ask to be part of future expansions of the project.

The idea is that much of the generated power will be transmitted elsewhere for use. Once the power has been generated, and it has been converted to an appropriate form for consumption by the user, it will need to be transmitted to other parts of the state, such as the Willamette Valley, for consumption. As with any new form of power that is generated, this will introduce additional load onto the grid and the transmission lines. The current load of the lines will need to be analyzed to see if they can handle the additional load of the new generators. It may end up being that the generators will easily provide for the coastal cities, and power generated from the Willamette Valley will not have to be transmitted to the coast, allowing it to be consumed locally at a lower cost. The transmission lines that currently carry power to the coast may end up carrying power from the coast to the Portland power grid. It is possible that by targeting these wave farms in specific costal cities where larger transmission lines are carrying a high load of power to lower the load going to the city, and save costs by generating the necessary power locally. It will always be cheaper to locally generate power than transmitting it over a great distance. The opportunity that these wave generators bring is not only generating power locally for the coast, but being able to transmit free power from the coast to areas where there is a higher amount of power consumption.

#### 4.6 – Connecting Wave Energy to the Grid

Solar and wind power parallel wave energy in terms of production due to the fact that they both take multiple smaller sources of generation and combine them to create a large power contribution. The method of connecting wave energy to the grid is much the same as for these other two forms of power generation. Wave energy should utilize the same concept of generating the power on board, and converting it at a centralized substation. The power that is sent to the substation from the individual wave generators will need to be rectified to DC and converted to AC. This will also allow the power that is placed on the grid to be completely independent of the changes in wave frequency or amplitude.

To generate power, a linear generator is a very reliable and robust design for this application. By using a linear generator design with permanent magnets, the machine is extremely robust for a situation such as this and provides the kind of generation that is needed for this application. The power generated from this could be either 1 or 3 phase



Figure 4 – Conceptual Wave Park [7]

power, which would provide a very good versatility to the design and widen its

application uses for different regions and load requirements.

#### 5 – Conclusion

Wave energy is an amazing technology in itself. Energy cannot be created from nothing, but in a certain respect, renewable energy generation tests that theory. Placing a turbine to harness the power of the wind mathematically is not creating energy from nothing, but there is no fuel consumed in the process. Setting out an array of solar panels to collect the sun's energy has an underlying equation to govern it, but the process itself does not consume any more of the sun than what would already be used. Placing a buoy in the ocean and allowing it to move freely seems like such a simple concept, yet it has amazing implications for the future of power generation. The waves will not be used up in this process, and there is such an amazing gain in energy with no fuel being consumed. Fuel in most respects is not only in short supply, but is also can be difficult to come by. A form of power generation such as this will be an amazing milestone in the future of power generation.

The implementation of it will only be limited by willingness to allow the buoys to be placed off shore. With such an amazing benefit in setting up these generators, it is difficult to believe that this will be a problem. The rights and usage of the water will always be an issue, same as land ownership rights are. But sharing the ocean much the same as we share the land is not a difficult task with a bit of planning. The placement of these buoys will need the same studies as the placement of any new construction, so that all aspects of the placement have been considered. The world's energy demands will not curtail anytime soon. It is with great foresight that projects such as this are researched, and implemented so that future energy crises can be avoided, and as methods of energy consumption become more efficient, generation methods that require fossil fuels as input can be phased out as renewable energy sources step up and increase in their capacity to generate. Renewable energy sources have the greatest sustainability of any power generation method currently available. Any opportunity given to further the research and advancement of renewable power generation should be taken with the foresight that it will become a necessary part of tomorrow's society.

# **Bibliography**

- [1] Anderson, Mark. "An independent flexes its muscle." <u>Windpower Monthly.</u> Vol. 22 Number 4, April 2006. pg 41-42
- [2] Anderson, Mark. "Largest annual growth yet seen in America." <u>Windpower</u> <u>Monthly.</u> Vol. 22, Number 3, March 2006. pg 37-39
- [3] Blankinship, Steve. "Renewable Energy: Moving into the Mainstream." <u>Power</u> <u>Engineering</u>. January 2005. pg 22-23
- [4] BWEA. "BWEA Grid Generation" Last Updated 2006. Available online at < http://www.bwea.com/ref/generating.html>
- [5] NWSEED. "Wind Power Maps State Maps" Last Updated 2002. Available online at < http://www.windpowermaps.org/windmaps/states.asp>
- [6] Renewable Northwest Project. "Windfall from the Wind Farm." Available online at <http://www.rnp.org/Projects/klondike.html>
- [7] School of EECS, Oregon State University. "MSRF Home" Last Updated 04/18/2006. Available online at < http://eecs.oregonstate.edu/msrf/>
- [8] Sherman, Lee. "Sea Power." <u>Terra: A World of Research and Creativity at</u> <u>Oregon State University.</u> Vol. 1, Number 1, Spring 2006. Available online at < http://oregonstate.edu/terra/features/seapower.html>
- [9] United States Department of Energy. "National Energy Profile." Last Updated 2006. Available online at < http://www.energy.gov/>